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Preface

The Historic Preservation Plan for Athens-Clarke County provides elected officials, staff’ and residents with
a set of goals and policies to help manage preservation issues over the next twenty years. This planis prepared
according to the Minimum Planning Standards established by the Department of Community Affairs under
the auspices of the Georgia Planning Act.

The Preservation Plan consists of a three-step planning process: Inventory and Assessment of existing
conditions; Goals and Policies; and, Implementation Strategy. The Inventory and Assessment catalogs the
historic sites and structures in Athens-Clarke County, including individual properties, historic areas,
archacological sites, local preservation organizations, and preservation initiatives. Based on the inventory
and assessment, existing needs are identified, and goals and objectives are developed to meet identified needs.
Finally, a strategy to put the plan into action is prepared. This section of the plan includes a five-year work
program that outlines projects and programs to meet identified needs and to achieve future goals. These
programs are outlined on a year-by-year basis.

The work program should be reviewed annually not only to note accomplishments, but also to determine
adjustments in the work program. The work program is a realistic plan of local activities; however,
circumstances, particularly financial, may necessitate adjusting the work program.

Volume I of the Preservation Plan represents the inventory portion of the plan. During Fall, 1996, the
Preservation Commission will hold a series of town meetings to obtain further information concerning the
community’s preservation needs. Upon completion of the town meetings, the goals, policies, and
implementation strategy will be finalized for presentation to the Mayor and Chair and Commission.






CHAPTER 1
LOCAL INITTATIVES AND INCENTIVES

Summaries of preservation initiatives and incentives at the national and state level introduce an
abbreviated narrative of the local preservation movement, compiled from standard historic and preservation
sources on Athens-Clarke County. Discussion of the potential benefits of preservation and existing incentives for
preservation follows. Summary hlocks provide concentrated information on the variety of organizations involved
in preservation efforts, and a timeline of preservation activity appears on page 11.

Historic Preservation: United States

In 1906, the United States Congress passed the Antiquitics Act, which enabled the designation of national
monuments and provided protection to major archaeological sites. In 1916, the National Park Service was formed as
a separate bureau in the U.S. Department of the Interior. The National Park Service administered the national park
system, mcluding the majority of the historic properties owned by the federal government. The Historic Sites Act, passed
by Congress in 1935, authorized the Department of the Interior to initiate a survey and identify historic sites throughout
the country, encompassing properties not publically owned. Recognizing the need to encourage public participation in
the preservation process, Congress chartered the National Trust for Historic Preservation in 1949, As anonprofit, quasi-
public organization, the National Trust created a new climate of national support for state and local preservation efforts.

In 1966, Congress enacted the National Historic Prescrvation Act to authorize a federal-state partnership for
the protection of historic resources. As part of this legislation, the survey program begun in 1935 under the auspices
of the Historic Sites Act became the basis of the National Register of Historic Places. Because existing tax incentives
favored new construction, and thus, encouraged the demolition of existing buildings, Congress subsequently passed the
Tax Reform Act of 1976, offering the first major preservation tax incentive system. As interest in historic preservation
increased, gradual involvement became evident on every level: federal, state, and local. In 1980, Congress amended
the National Historic Preservation Act to include the Certified Local Government program, which incorporated local
governments into the federal-state partmership. The Economic Recovery Act of 198 1, subsequently replaced by the Tax
Reform Act of 1986, further encouraged the rehabilitation and use of historic properties by providing significant
investment tax credits.

Historic Preservation: Georgia

The Georgia General Assembly created the Department of Archives and History in 1918 to collect and preserve
artifacts, and in 1951, established the Georgia Historical Commission, which initially erected historical markers and
acquired, protected, and interpreted historic sites. The Georgia Conservancy, established in 1967 to protect Georgia's
environment, created a Historic Sites Committee and jointly sponsored the first statewide preservation conference, held
in Athens in 1969. As an effort to foster cooperation between all preservation-oriented entities, these conferences led
to the establishment of the Georgia Trust for Historic Preservation, incorporated in 1973, Established by a 1972
executive order, sanctioned by a 1975 legislative act, and funded until 1979, the Georgia Heritage Trust preserved
Georgia’s resources through direct purchase or acquisition of lesser property imterests.

Because of the intense preservation concern and activity, the General Assembly enacted several pieces of
legislation: the Georgia Antiquities Act of 1969, the Georgia Heritage Trust Act of 1975, and the Facade and
Conservation Easement Act of 1976, Although the Georgia Historic Preservation Enabling Act and a bill revising the



NATIONAL

National Trust for Historic Preservation

The Mational: Trust for Historic Preservution
(WILIP), chartered by Congress n 1949, InéTedses
public awareness and encourages public
ﬂﬂﬂuﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂ in the preservation of America’s

istoricrespurces. Serving asa clearinghouse for
gwm;ifm the NTHP alzo assists m{::ﬁn']thmtmg{l

iorts of preservation groups, provides professional
advice - on pi‘ﬁﬁﬂ"i’ﬂhﬂﬂ,gm conferences
and seminars, maintains hlsmnr. propertics, and
admnuﬂﬂrsgraﬂnndinanpmgmms T'J'LeNTI-H"
issues a variety of publications, the
monthly newspapet Preservation News the
himenthly magazine Historic Preservation.

Richard Moe, President’

National Trust for Historic Preservation
1785 Mnssaﬂhlmtsﬁvmuﬂ NW
Washington, DiC 200

{202) 6734000/ ax (2(}2} 673-#338

David Brown, Director

Soithern Reg;mnl Ofice/NTHP
456 King Street

Charleston, 8¢ 20403

(RO3) 224552 (803) 722-8652

National Park: Stmce

The Mational Park Service (NP8}, a division of
the Department of the Interior, administers the
programs created by the Maticnal - Historic
Pressrvation Act of 1966 and the Amendments
N_;gwd in 1980, Among its varied tasks, the
m&tmgrs all Mational Historic Sites and
onal parks, identifics Nutional Historic
lmldmmsmmmm the National Register of
Historic Places, and docurments historic stroctures
through the Historic American Euildings Survey
and llistoric American Engineering : Record.
Additionally, the NPS supports the operation. of
the State Historic Preservation Offices; provides
technical information, and monitors and certifies
rehabilitation pmjects mnvolving federal iax
incerntives, vl

Kate Stemm,ﬁssocaatc Director

1.8, Dept. of the InteriorMational Park Service
Cultural Resources Stewardship & Partnerships
Wedhingion, BE 200137127
(202) 208-7625/fux (2027 273-3237

Robert Baker, Field Director :
Southeast Ares, Natonial Purk Serviee

75 Spring Street, SW, Suite 1150
30303 ; e

(4047 331-5185/ax (404) 730-3283
Preservation Action

I‘:wvmm -Action {PA}, organized in 1974, is
a naticnal cifizens’ lobby for prmnruum

Supparting lobbying coordinators in each state,
PA asssis m i monitors pmpmed
lemislation, and Im'md:s X testimony.

Additionally, PA works with federal agencies
that -administer preservation ama  and
coordinates preservation initiatives with the
Mational Trust for Historic Preservation.

Nellie Longsworth, President
Preservation Action:

1350 Conneticul Avenue, Suite 401
Washington, 130 : 20036

(2027 659091 5/fax (202} 296-2705
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State Constitution were also considered during the bicentennial yvear, the
Georgia Historic Preservation Act was not passed until 1980, when its
adoption established mimimum standards for local jurisdiction protection
of historic resources and provided for the establishment of local historic
preservation commissions. In 1989, the Georgia Planning Act required
municipal and county governments to generate comprehensive plans
which included a historic resource component. During its 1989 session,
the General Assembly also passed a statewide property tax deferment
program for rehabilitated historic property. A second tax abatement
program was created on April 11, 1990 when the Governor signed into law
a local option for property tax deferment for properties listed on the
Georgia Register and locally designated.  Additionally, the tax abatement
provisions for transitional residential property, afforded by the legislation
commonly known as the 1991 Timber Tax bill, is ofien beneficial to
historic resources. In 1992, the Georgia Uniform Conservation Easement

Act replaced the 1976 Facade and Conservation Easement Act.

Historic Preservation: Athens-Clarke County

A century after its inception Athens began to preserve her historic
resources. Beginming in 1908, the University of Georgia restored its first
building, Old College, which was built in 1801 and originally named
Franklin College in honor of Benjamin Franklin, In 1919, the Athens
Women's Club acquired and occupied the Joseph Henry Lumpkin House
on Prince Avenue, and in 1939, the City of Athens purchased the Lyndon
Housc for future usc. These public and private imtatives, including
mmstitutional, orgamizational, and governmental actions, were the carliest
evidence of preservation measures in Athens.

Raising Awareness: 1950-1970

During the late 1950s, the emergence of two organizations raised
awareness regarding Athens’ distinctive and rich historic character.
Although a predecessor with the same name had formed in 1899 and lasted
only one year, the existing Athens Historical Society (AHS) organized in
the Tinsley-5tern House on October 12, 1959, Professor John Talmadge
served as the first president of the organization, which purposes included
the “preservation and perpetuation of historic sites and places.” This
private, non-profil orgamization imtiated quarterly mectings, collected
historic materials, promoted historical research and preservation efforts,
and hosted joint seminars and tours.

On October 14, 1959, the Society for the Preservation of Old Athens
(SPOA) became the second preservation organization in Athens, and
Thomas Whitehead served as its first president. The organization’s
purpose was “to cultivate and encourage interest in the preservation of
buildings, homes, sites, and structures.” During its formative vears,
SPOA actively advocated the preservation of the Taylor-Grady House
and the Lucy Cobb Institute. When a movement by commercial interests
to purchase and demolish Milledge Avenue’s traditional homes became
evident, SPOA led efforts to obtain protective zoning provisions for
Milledge Avenue. Although the organization sought to retain the existing



residential zoning, Milledge Avenue from Broad Strect to Five Points was
rezoned; however, the new zoning was officc-institutional rather than
business. As a direct result, Milledge Avenue did not succumb to the
rampant commercialization which consumed Prince Avenue.

The early 1960s was a period of great activity for these new
organizations. Because SPOA’s lobbying activitics precluded a non-
profit status, a second entity was founded to serve as a trust, entitled the
Athens Historical Foundation. As a legal subdivision of SPOA, the
foundation managed gifts, donations, and operation funds. In 1961,
SPOA became the first organization to purchase a historic structure solely
for preservation purposes. SPOA acquired St. Mary's Chapel on Oconee
Street for $6000, intending to restore and locate a compatible tenant for
the property. Due to high repair costs and zoning restrictions, SPOA
reluctantly sold the building to real estate interests after imposing some
restrictive covenants. SPOA also mitigated the impact of commerical
development on the northeast commer of Broad Street and Milledge
Avenue. When the Phinizy-Hodgson property was purchased and a
restaurant planned, SPOA convinced the new owner, the Varsity, to save
the magnolia trees, retain a substantial setback, and locate the primary
traffic flow on Broad Street.

During this period, AHS sponsored the first tour of homes,
participated in the publication of Athens of Old, and aleried the University
of Georgia when its facilities began to encroach upon the Old Athens
Cemetery on Jackson Street. In conjunction with the Georgia Historical
Comnussion, AHS dedicated a historic marker at the Camak House,
commemorating the founding of the Georgia Railroad, Later, AHS played
an mstrumental role in the placement of two more markers, one at the First
Presbyterian Church honoring Dr, Moses Waddel, and the other at the
E.K. Lumpkin House commemorating the founding of nation’s first
garden club. The society also assisted in the organization of several
societies of a similar nature throughout the state.

Lecturing before SPOA in 1962, Mayor Jack R. Wells suggested
that a city commission or committee should be established to work with
private interests and that local citizens could petition the state legislature
for a local law that would enable local government agencies to use tax
money for acquiring historical properties. Although this 1dea would not
come to fruition until the 1980s, the carly actions of AHS and SPOA
heightened community awareness regarding historic preservation and laid
the foundation for future success.

The need to revitalize preservation efforts led a group of members
from SPOA, virtually defunct by the 1970s, to gather support and
establish the Athens Historical Trust in 1966. Because of legal complications,
the organization was chartered as the Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation
(ACHF)in April of 1967. The organization’s purpose was “to encourage
and participate in the preservation of those architectural, historical, and
natural features which contribute to the physical and cultural character of
our environment and therefore, enrich the daily life of all citizens of Athens
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SESSI00S

STATE ORGANIZATIONS
e

Georpia Trust for Historic Preservation

The Gem st for Historie Preservalion {Ga
Trust), Im.d m 1973 and founded m 1975,
promotes the preservation of Genrgia’s historic
resotrees throtgh a variety of educational, techuiel,
and financial programs. ﬁ.purf.ﬁ'umammgmsﬂ
clearinghouse for information and services, the
Ga Trust purchases and manapes s;gmﬁ:ant
historic: ies, actfi as a laision  with
;zrese.r?mm dgencies ar unistions within
i beyund Geonne, issucs lhqgsnmﬂ'tly newsletter
The Rambler and co-sponsors an - annnal
mmrvanm conference, which features teclinical
s - for - preservalion
pmfemmah The Ga Trusl slso promotes.
“egirlation, such as the

listoric Preservation Act, Historic Properties
Fire Code, und state lax incentives,

Gmg Faan President & Executive Dirsctor
G “Trust for Historic Preservation

1516 Peachtree Street, NW

Atlanta, GA 303002016

(404) RE1-9980/fax (4(4) 8752205

Stale Historic Preservation (Mfice
‘The Historic Preservation Division (HFD) of
Geprgia Department of Natural Resources, asthe
e et it S e g
siate preservation programs
within Georgia. Supporting historic resource
surveys and prescrvation planning imbiatives,
Ehe HPD ajsummdmat}h :tm 'tl'ni-l mi Repi
0T o oTic Ain
ngu%g Local Government (CLG) programs.
The HPD reviews federal projects for complianee
with Section 1060 and HD af- the “Historic
P:rasemnon Act of 1966 and conducts reviews
srvetion lux incenlive micluding
ihe hatnlitation Investment 'Uax Credst Program
and the Georgia Preferential Property Tax
Asgesdament,

Mark K. Edwards, State Historic Presevation
Officer and Division Director:

Geargia t of Natoral Resources
Higtoric Preservation [divigion

500 The Ba

57 Fursyﬂ}iasaﬁr:l quldm,g

Atlanta, GA 30303

(404) 656-2840/fax (404) 651-8739

Georgians for Preservation Action
Founded in 1987, Georgions for Preservation
Action {Gal’A) 15a statevwnde volunteer advocacy
promp committed tothe preservation of Ceorpia's
diverse heritage. Working with the Georgia
Trust for Historie Preservation, GaPA promotes
legistative advances for lg'esen'allun such as

tax mcentives for historic buildings, the
establishment of the Register of Historic
Flaces, m:lme inclusion of preservation concems
i the vhensive Plunnimg Act amd
m the fxem'gla Environmental Policy Act.

Gll’.‘t&TEl‘rfl

1ang for Preservation .Acimn
1516 Peachfres Street, NW
Atlanta, GA 30308-2916 :
(404 3&] BO80 G (404) 8§75-2205
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GEORGIA ALLIANCE OF
PRESERVATION COMMISSIONS

The preservation of Georgia's historic and
archaeological resources occurs at the local
level: local preservation commissions make
the tough decisions that protect historic
properties.  The GAPC, a network and
orpanization of commissions, exists to provide
guidance and assistance for local efforts. [t
isaforum forthe exchange of ideas, o source

of support and a unifying body giving local

mnm.tsstms ‘& statewide voice:

In 1983, the JG-m_m ‘Roots P:waﬁm-

Conference was held in Atlanta for
approximately 20 historic  prescrvation
- commissions. Inresponse to the concernsof

this growing yet fragmented and offen isolated
family of local review hodies, a statewide

umbrella associalion was proposed to provide
a feram for ides exchange and to serve asa
source of technicsl assistance  fo logal

commissions. A subscquent state-funded
project was challenged with the task of
establishing and providing early coordination

ufasmdumgmz&ﬁmafcmmmsmuﬂs
At the next statewide workshop for
commissions; the Ceorgia  Alliance of
Preservation Commissions {the Alliance)
was officially voted into existence by those
in attendance. Georgians were united as

action-oriented preservationdsts. The new‘ i

tradition was bom

The Alliance has taken an active role in
encouraging the areation of Tocal commissions
und furthering the work being dane by those
already established  The success of Georgin's
preservation commissions — whose mimibers

have now passed seventy communities <
has resulted in increasing demands on the
Office of Preservation Serviess. By becoming

active in the revitalization of the Alliance,
members can support .one another and be

admfminmlpmwummmﬂm-_

at the state and federal levels.

and Clarke County.” As its president, John C. Waters led its first
preservation initiative to save the Church-Waddel-Brumby House, threatened
by College Avenue Urban Renewal (Project 31).

Launched in 1964, the federal Project 51 involved the
condemnation, purchase, and subsequent demolition of 128 acres of the
city’s land, including parcels on both sides of College Avenue and along
Washington and Pulaski streets. The project area encompassed a variety
of historic resources, such as the Congregation Children of Isreal
(Athens’ only synagogue), the Southern Mutual Building, the City Hall,
the Federal Building, Church-Waddel-Brumby House, and a large portion
of Lickskillet, one of the oldest Athens neighborhoods. Galvanized bythis
threat tothe Church-Waddel-Brumby House, the Athens-Clarke Heritage
Foundation quickly raised funds to relocate Athens’ oldest surviving
residence.

In 1967, the Athens Junior Assembly (now the Athens
Junior League) supported the preservation movment by issuing ACHF a
grant to initiatc a housc survey, which documented approximately 800
historic structures in Athens. The following year, the Athens Junior
Assembly leased and began restoration of the Taylor-Grady House,
which the City of Athens had acquired from a private estate in 1966. In
1969, ACHF sponsored its first Historic Homes Tour, focused annually
on different historic neighborhoods. The cvent became one of ACHF's
most successful and effective educational activities. During the same
year, ACHF also sponsored the Fine Arts Festival, which emphasized
Athens’” historic structures and generated a publication of student work,
and jointly sponsored the first state-wide historic preservation conference,
held in Athens on May 23.

Developing Community Support: 1979-1980

During the next decade, development pressures stimulated
extensive preservation activity. Adopting a proactive demeanor, ACHF
established a revolving fund for preservation projects in 1970 and began
nominating historic properties to the National Register of Historic Places.
When demolition and development threatened the Cheney Housein 1971,
the revolving fund enabled ACHF to sccure an option on the property and
locate a preservation-minded buyer for the property, which is situated at
a pivotal intersection in the historic Cobbham neighborhood. During this
year, First American Bank purchased the Federal Building and rchabilitated
the structure for its new headquarters. Raising a one-quarter sharc of a
$50,000 grant from Housing and Urban Development (HUD), ACHF
also successfully completed its five-year restoration of the Church-
Waddel-Brumby House in 1972. Subsequently, ACHF transferred
ownership to the city and leased the structure for its headquarters and a
house museum, which later developed as the Athens Welcome Center.
Commercial development soon threatened the Franklin House, one of
Athens’ oldest commercial buildings and a downtown anchor. ACHF
raised $75,000 to buy the property and the demolition contract. Securing
a $30,000 grant from the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, the
organization stabilized the structure, which was later renovated by
subsequent owners and honored by a Georgia Trust award.



Actions by commercial, municipal, and private entities often
supplemented preservation initiatives. Organizations such as the Urban
Renewal Agency, Model Cities Program, Chamber of Commerce, Downtown
Merchant Council, and the Athens Downtown Development Authority
{ADDA) influenced preservation cfforts within Athens” historic downtown
area. The Hoyt House, owned by the Urban Renewal Agency as part of
its College Avenue Project, was salvaged by the Historical Village, Inc.
when it was relocated and incorporated into a larger complexin 1973 The
Lyndon House, also under the domain of Urban Renewal, was secured by
the Model Cities Program. Inthe same vear, merchants formed the Athens
Downtown Council to formulate plans for economic revitalization. In
1975, the Joseph Henry Lumpkin Foundation formed to preserve the
Lumpkin House, and the Historic Cobbham Foundation organized to
protecet its historic neighborhood. During the same year, the University
of Georgria received grants to renovate the Lucy Cobb Institute and the
Sency-Stovall Chapel. In 1976, the Tax Reform Act further stimulated
local rehabilitation projects. Its impacts coupled with a special downtown
tax-assessment district contributed to downtown's economic growth.
Formed by the city during the same year, the ADDA served to stimulate
investment through providing low interest loans.

During the late 1970s, ACHF continued to lead the preservation
community. In 1977, ACHF’s revolving fund once again preserved the
Cheney House. The following year, AHS recommended the University of
Georgia’s School of Forest Resources for a Georgia Trust award for its
preservation of White Hall. In 1973, the first historic preservation course
was offered at the University of Georgia by the School of Environmental
Design, which subsequently instituted the Historic Preservation Program
in 1982, As a further assct to preservation activity, the Regional
Preservation Program was initiated in 1978 with the first two Regional
Development Centers (RDCs) to be assigned Preservation Planners being
Northeast Georgia and Middle Flint.  In 1979, the ACHF restored Fire
Hall No. 2, owned by the City of Athens, which served as the new
headquarters and a gallery space for the organization, Additionally,
ACHF provided emergency loans to fund the restoration of the Lumpkin
House and repair the roof of the Morton Theater. The most significant
initiative led by ACHF occurred during this period, when ACHF attempted
to convince the Athens City Council to adopt a historic preservation
ordinance. Opponents claimed that no legal mechanism for establishing
such an ordinance existed. In response, a special legislative commuttee,
composed of ACHF President Robert Gair, University professor John C.
Waters, and attorney Mel Hill, drafied the Georgia Historic Preservation
Enabling Act, providing a base for the formation of local historic
preservation ordinances and commissions.
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LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS

‘commission protects historic pr

Athens-Clarke County
Historic Preservation Commission

Athens-Clarke Connty's adoption of the 1986
Historic: Preservation Ordinance led to the
establishment of the  Historic Preservation
Commission (HPC) in 1987. Appointed by the
CEQ and  Commussion, this  seven-member
operiies through
several measures, mncluding: imbating histonc
resoute surveys and rvation plantiing studies,
réconmnending 1 designation of landmarks
and districts, reviewng exterior chamges 1o

ignated ies. -and promoting  the
scquisition of easements and historic resources.

Additionally, HPC 5 public awareness
and ed.lm?;nal mﬂerm:es, sccks grants for
B ticn ﬁ Mmﬁammw

vocate. “alsh. i Diesign
Cuidelmes, sl for propeity willpﬂyixls withun
1ocal historic districts, and the Welcome o Athens
videocassette. Asthe official apency of the local
govermment's historic preservation program, HPC
addresses vanous 1ssucs such as reviewing design
alternatives for handicap: access to the Taylor-
Grady House, assisting community efforis lo
prevent demolition of the Wray-Micholson House,
aiding with plarming efforts to develop the Historic
Resotirces Element of the Athens-Clarke County
-Winterville: Comprehensive Plan, and
recommending the ¢ of the Local Cption
Tax Incentive for Histome Preservation,

Tom Reynolds, Char
Historic Preservation Commission
120 Dougherty Street :
Athens, GA 30601 -

Athens-Clarke County
Planning Department

The Planning Depariment iz responsible for
overseeing 2oning and land use for Athens-{larke
County. Crested as s new staff position in 1989,
the Historic Preservation Planner coordinates
preservation planning activities within the city-
county. - The preservation  planner serves as a
liaison between the unified goverment and other
local, state, and federal izatioms and provides
adinmistrative support to the Historic Preservation

and the 1 IPC; the preservation recomupends
sction on historic preservation planning nceds,
mﬂms'm minutes and agendas, contucts
istoric site research and survey, writes and
administers grants, on applications for
Certificates of Appropriateness (COA), imspecls
ies for compliance with the ardmance and
COA, and assisls m criforcement of the Historic
Preservation Ordinance.  In- addition 1o these
duties, the preservation planner assisis cilizens
with pluniting questions, and assiste with the
preparation of the annual budget.

Julie D. Morgan, Historic Preservation Ilanner
Athens-Clarke County Planning Department

{706) 613-3515 x3314/fax (706) 613-3444
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Northeast Georgia Regional Development
Center (RDC)

The Northeast Georgia Repional Development
Center (RDC), one of several regiomal offices
which provide comprehensive planning services
to Georgia's communitics in coordination with
the 11P1), iz located in: Athens. The Regional
Preservation Planner, a statf position created in
1978, asststs mdividuals and communities in
preservation planning effors.

Burke Walker, Preservation Planner
MNortheast Georgia ROC

305 Research Drive

Athens, GA 30610

(7067 368-5650/fax (706) 369-5792

University of Georgia
School of Environmental Design

Founded m: 1981, the Histone Presavation Program
{(MHP) of the School of Environmental Design
offers a Masters degree in inn and &
joint degree with the of Law. Graduate.
students actively asst preservation endeavors

Ins&mcmm ;rveys, research projecls,

prtaemtmn lans,
mﬁl adaptive use: mﬁm .

John C. Warhus,GmﬂnateCmrdnnmr
&t}‘}{laidmllHall
U of G

02
{‘r ) :.4?mffu (706) sd2.4485

The Cﬁiﬂﬂnfﬁmmﬂm Servicas (OPS), lncated
al the University of Georgia, coordinates a wide

range of tion serviees. - Herein, staff)
assists the Certified Local Government program,
the National Alliance of Preservation Commuissions,
the 1a Allianee of Presarvation Commissions,
and the National Coumnsel of Preservabion Educators. |
Pratt Cassity, Coordinator

Office of Preservation Services

609 Caldwell Hall -

University of Georgia

Athens, G\em'%m 30602
(706) 542-4731/fax {706) 5424485

The Student 1listoric Preservation Organization
(SPHO) volunteers in a number of preservation
activities, including serving as docents: for the
ACHI’s Annual Tour of H]Slmé: Hum;:nam.}
walking tours, gand ng an Annua
e Sponsorin i
and securing the Wruy-Nicholson House, and
hosting Historic Preservation Week activites.
Liza Vo
Smdent jc Premrmhon Organization
609 Caidweu.Hm_ i

ns,
{706) 342-0061/Max (T06) 542-4485

Empowering Local Government: 1980-1995

The passage of the Georgia Historic Preservation Enabling Act in
1980 heralded a new decade and new advocates for preservation in
Athens. As the most prominent preservation advocate throughout the
1970s, ACHF surged successfully forward with new preservation
initiatives. In partnership with the ADDA, ACHF initiated an annual
Upstairs Downtown Tour. Held from 1980 to 1988, the Upstairs
Dovntown Tour highlighted innovative uses of upstairs spaces and
mstigated leasing activity within downtown Athens. As a new preservation
partner, ADDA managed preservation efforts when the National Trust
for Historic Preservation chose Athens as one of the first five pilot cities
for the Main Street Program in 1980. Early programs assisted the
transformation of downtown retailling into specialty shops and restaurants
to take advantage of the Umiversity s proxmuity and the market potential.
The ADDA sponsored and coordinated special events designed to
benefit both the campus and the central business district, such as the
Downtown Athens Twilight Criterium and the Jazz Festival., In 1980,
the Athens Area Chamber of Commerce converted Fire Hall No. 1 into
office space and began to actively pursue heritage tourism when Athens
became the gateway of the Antebellum Trail, a route designated by the
state legislature. When suburban mini-malls and the new Georgia
Square Mall began to impact the the downtown commerical business
district in 1981, the College Square Project revitalized the area. Financed
by the city, the project focused upon a creative redesign of College
Avenue from Broad to Clayton Street, including wide walkways,
lampposts, benches, flower beds, and shade trees. Investors and
customers alike were attracted to the pleasant and historic environment.

In 1983, ACHF initiated an extensive educational campaign to
develop community support for the adoption of a local historic preservation
ordinance. The same vear, the T.R_R. Cobb House, one of Georgia’s and
Athens’ most significant structures, was dismantled and moved from
Prince Avenue to Stone Mountain’s “0Old South” theme park. The loss
of the Cobb House demonstrated the need for a protective ordinance. On
November 4, 1986, Athens Mayor and Council unanmimously adopted a
historic preservation ordinance, which provided for the creation of a
Historic Preservation Commission with the authority to recommend
historic districts and landmarks and to review new construction and
exterior alterations to designated properties. Property owners interested
m preservation of their neighborhood and community began to organize;
Woodlawn was the first historic district to receive designation. At the
recommendation of the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC), the
City Council designated four historic districts and several historic sites
for proteetion under the local ordinance,

Development Authority,

Group, Additional grovips which offen lend their

Local Organizations

Lical neighborhood and onts organizations also assemble to protect their historic environment, such as the Al]'tm:i:s Dorwnitowi
gmﬂwmﬂ Association, Historic Cobbham Foundation, Counsel of In-Town Neigi

Lumpkm Foundation, Alncar-American Preservation Committee, Holman Avente Nei borhood Watch, K

Watch, Athens Fedaration of Neighborhoods, Buena Vista Heighls Association, Pulaski Heights Association,

horhoods, -Henry:
Avenie Neighborhood:
the Athens Breastworks
topreservation causes include the United Daughters of the Cunﬁ.dmcy, Dughters

of the American Revolution, Gurden Club of Georgia, and the Athens Junior League




With this ordinance, Athens qualified as a Certified Local
Government (CLG) in 1988, thus becoming eligible for numerous grants
from the Historic Preservation Division of the Georgia Department of
Natural Resources. In 1989, the Athens Planning Department created a
staff position for a Historic Preservation Planner to coordinate preservation
planning activities within the city. With the benefit of two matching
grants, the HPC initiated the Historic Resources Survey, the most
substantial survey of Athens-Clarke County's historic resources to date,
and developed Design Guidelines, and educational brochures for historic
property owners. Able to guide preservation efforts and protect historic
properties, the HPC emerged as an important component of the preservation
community.

The 1990s have been a pivotal period for Athens’ preservation
movement. Despite the proven value and substantial community support
for preservation, two significant historic structures were destroved.
SPOA once owned St. Mary’s Chapel, the 120-year-old Gothic Revival
sanctuary on Oconee Street. However, resirictive covenants failed to
prevent neglect and subsequent demolition of the building in March of
1990, when a wrecking ball destroved all but the steeple for a condominium
development, ironically named “Steeplechase.” In May of 1990, Athens
also suffered the loss of the Hull-Snelling House, a 150-year-old Greek
Revival residence on Hull Street. The historic dwelling were razed by
Christian College of Georgia when the Athens Mayor and Council voted
not to designate the Hull Street Historic District. Subsequently, Holiday
Inn paid Christian College $400,000 for the site and constructed a

parking lot.

(Other projects, as well threatened local historic resources. In
1987, a Special Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) referendum included
the construction of a civic center. In 1989, the Clarke County
Commission’s construction plans for this civic center on Foundry Street
required the demolition of significant buildings in the Warehouse Historic
District, including Fire Hall No. 1 and the Talmadge Building. Demolition
or relocation appeared eminent until many local preservationists joined
community opposition to the initial architectural plans. Much of the
foundation for the objections to the proposed designs was laid out in the
Foundary Street Study, an architectural and design context which was
previously developed by the City of Athens, Athens-Clarke Henitage
Foundation, National Trust for Historic Preservation, and REM./
Athens, Ltd. through a Design Quality Panel. As aresult of these efforts,
Rabun Hatch & Associates prepared a new design, sensitive to the area’s
historic character and incorporating the 1912 Fire Hall No. 1. In 1990,
the Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation also hosted Project for Public
Spaces workshops, where planners, designers, and administrators discussed
planning and development alternatives for the Downtown East area,
included within the boundary of the Warehouse Historic District.

During the summer of 1990, Athens and Clarke County voters
passed a referendum approving a unified government, the second city-
county consolidated government in Georgia and the twenty-eighth in the
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Athens Historical Society

" Papers o
Strolls

Founded October 12, 1959, the Athens Historical
Socicty (AHS} 7= a non-profit membership
organization administered by a Board of
Dvirectors and elected officers.  AHS collects
and preserves hisloric matenials, promotes
hislonie research and historic preservation,
hmtx joint seminars and tours, and assists in
the fonndation of similar - organizations

hroughout the state,  In addition to these
activilics, AHS serves as a community advoate
and . sponsors  poblic - awareress,

collaberated with the State Depam?.imt“n%
Archives and History Lo microfilm significant
local records and with the G Historic
Commuission to dedicate several histarical
miarkers. In addition to its newsletter, AHS
inftates publications; including the futlmwing;

‘the Athens Historical Soctety I,
Athens the Smwnig:,
Oéomae il € Tombstane

o for that Part of the Cemetery West af I.Fu:

QOeonee River,
Map of the City

: af Athens, f"eor§ia
- Papers af ﬂiaArhe.m Historieal Soctety I,

Historic Hotses of Athens, and
- The Presence of the Past; Historic Houses of
Athens (ﬂdmmsaetlﬂj
“Roberl G 8 . Junior, President
~Athens Historcal ﬁnclet}f
PO Box 7745
-Alhens, GA 30606-T745

"PAST IS PROLOGUE™

Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation

-mewsletter and initiates
Athens:
‘Athens & Clarke Cosmry, and Athens: A Treasury

Viounded in 1967, the Athens-Clarke Henitage
Fmdaﬂm{A{H-IFJ is & pon-profit membership
orgatization managed by a Board of Directors
‘and an Execufive Director.  Amon .1ls vanuus
activities, ACHF operates a revo gI

initintes historic resource surveys and ;m:maI

TRegister nominations, und secepts and manages

easements. The tion comtinues to serve
as o community advocate and sponsors public
awareness through events such a5 ity amual
Histonic Homes Tour and operation of the Athens
Welcome Center. . ACHF's notable

accomplishments include the rescue of several

‘sipnificant structures, joint sponsorship of the

first state-wide mum conference, vital

for the
dﬁmlupmentﬂ!mngh :k:slgn quality panelz and
The organtzation & quarterty

tions, including

A Prciorial Hisiory, A Purtrait of

af Histaric Avehitecture,

Elizubeth Dulton, Executive Director
Athens-Clarke Henituge Foundation
Fire Hall No, 2

480 Prince Avenue

Athens, GA 30601

{7063 353-1801

"PRESERVATION IS PROGRESS"
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nation. Gwen (’Looney was elected as the first Chief Elected
Officer (CEO) for the Athens-Clarke County Unified Government
(a title now changed to Mayor and Chair). The new government
retained the preservation ordinance and expanded its jurisdiction
to encompass the entirety of Athens-Clarke County. Charged with
generating a comprehensive plan as required by the Georgia
Planning Act of 1989, Athens-Clarke County contracted with the
University of Georgia’s Institute of Commumity and Area
Development (ICAD) to design and execute a process for public
participation. Known as Athens-Clarke Tomorrow (ACT), the
process initiated fourteen town meetings during 1992 and included
ning issue work groups, two of which addressed historic preservation
concemns. In 1993, the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department
incorporated the results and an asscssment of existing conditions
within the Athens-Clarke County Comprehensive Plan, approved
by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and presented
with a Georgia Planning Association Award for an outstanding,
innovative, and effective planning process.

Subsequently, local preservation organizations and the
Athens-Clarke County Historic Preservation Commission provided
vital support to preservation initiatives, as varied as the adoption
of Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) and a Local
Option Tax Incentive for Historic Preservation. Funding from the
1987 SPLOST enabled full restoration of the Morton Theater, an
effort which was honored by a 1994 Georgia Trust Award and
nominated for a National Preservation Honor Award. The 1994
SPLOST secured funding for the development of the Lyndon Art
Center, encompassing the historic Ware-Lyndon House, and the
renovation of the Wray-Nicholson House, recently acquired following
condemnation proceedings and an out of court settlement with the
Christian College of Georgia. At the recommendation of the
Historic Preservation Commission, the CEQ and Commission
passed the Local Option Tax Incentive for Historic Preservation,
an incentive program providing property tax assessment freeze for
eligible historic resources. The Historic Preservation Commission
designated two landmarks in 1994, In 1995, the Histonc Preservation
Commission received a Certified Local Government (CLG) grant
to develop design guidelines for new construction and sample
architectural plans for affordable and compatible in-fill construction
within historic districts. In partnership with the Georgia Historic
Preservation Division, Athens-Clarke County is currently studying
the economic benefits of historic preservation in Georgia.  On the
cusp of a new century, Athens' preservationists continue to integrate
preservation and progress.

GEORGIA PRESERVATION AND
ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY
HISTORIC PRESERVATION
COMMISSION WEBSITE:

http:fevelops.sed. uga./~preserve
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Incentives for Historic Preservation

The preservation of historic landmarks and districts does have an measurable impact on the community. The human scale
and architectural character of historic resources creates a sense of place and promotes quality of life. Athens-Clarke County
15 fortunate to retain so many of its historic neighborhoods and commercial arcas, which most cities have lost and neo-
traditional planners are attempting to recreate. Apart from the aesthetic benefits, the maintenance and retention of these
resources affords heritage education opportunities. Heritage tourism also continues to bring visitors, who discover walking
and driving tours and shop within the Athens’ historic commercial downtown. Additional economic benefits of
rehabilitation of existing buildings, as opposced to new construction, include the use of existing public services and the
increase in property values for historic properties. Recognizing the benefits of historic preservation, federal, state, and local
povernment support and encourage preservation efforts by offering financial incentives. In addition to the incentives
discussed below, preservationisis have been able to take advantage of low-interest loan programs, granis-in-aid, revolving
funds, and other legislation to preserve and restore Athens-Clarke County’s historic resources,

jRﬂhﬁﬁﬂltaﬁnn Investment Tax Credit (RITC)

.A 2% tax credit for the mhsl_‘anml'r:wahi!ﬂatiun of certified historic buildings fur commerical, industrial, and rental residential
51111@&5- 11:! 121ftjli'fau'lu'l:rly& under current law. A 109 tux credit for some older structures, which do not qualify for the higher eredits, 1s
so available,

Ta be eligible for this incentive, a property must be listed in the Natioual Rn?isln of Historic Flaces, and the rehabilitation Eto'wt
must meet the substantial rehabilitation test, where the amount of the rehabilitation 1¢ greater that the adjusted value of the u.ddmg
and at least $5,000. The property must be used for an income-producing purposes for at least five years, and generally, the work
must meet rehabilitation standards and be completed within two yeurs. - :

To qualify for this incenti ve, owners must have certification of both the historic structure and the completed rehabilitation. A two-
part apphication is available from the State Historic Preservation Office {Historic Preservation Divisim}_ 2

Geuorpia Pl‘ll‘mﬁﬁ;l Property Tax Assessment

This incentive prngram provides an eight-year freeze on property tax assessments, followed by an assessment increase by 50% of the
difference between the recorded first year value and the current fair market value during the ninth year, for the substantinl
rehubilitation of certificd historic buildings. :

To be eligible for this incentive, a property must be listed or qualify for listing in the Georgia Register or the National Register of

Historic Places. The rehabilitation project must meet a substantial rehabilitation test, which varies according to pro e

residential, $0% fair market value increase; mixed-use, 75% fair market value increase; and commerical or professional use, 100%
fair market value increase. Generally, the work must meet rehabilitation standards md be completed within two years,

Ta qu.u].n.l'y fur this incentive, owners must have certification of bath the histori¢ structure and the completed rebabilitation. A two-
part application is available from the Historic Préservation Division. :

Local Option Tax Incentive for Historic Preservatinn

This incentive program provides an owner of a historic property ' an eight-vear freeze on property lux assessments. For the ninth
vedr, the assessment increases by 50% of the difference between the recorded first vear vilue und (he current fair market value. In
e tenth und following years the tax assessment will then be based on the corrent fair market value.

To be eligible for this incentive, a po st bea Jocally i M{glu:xed hm-.mc resource and listed in the Georgia Register or the
Mational Register of Historic Pluces: property, if located within a residential area, must conform to the local zoning ordinance
The property may nof receive-benefits under bath the local option act and the state rehabilitation act simultancously; however, no

provision prevents utilizing these benefit programs concurrently for a total benefit of approximately eighteen years. -

To gquali fnt .thiﬁ:inq:nﬂ'ire; ownets must have certification of (4) local designation from the Historic Prearvation Commission and
{h) histing in either the Georgia Register or National Register of Historic Places from the Georgia Department of Natural Resources,
Certification shounld be submitted to the county board of tax assessors.
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CHAPTER 2
SURVEY REVIEW

Because of the concurrent and continuous nature of surveys, the following survey review encompasses all known
survey efforts, evaluated through surviving survey reporis, documentation results, and final products. Each summary
acknowledges the sponsor(s) or source of funding, the expertise of surveyor(s), and the year of the survey. Bald type
denotes the survey Hitle. Referencing the standard terminology jor National Register surveys, summaries designate the
depth of survey as either reconnaisance or intensive. Within the context of this report, an addifional assessment defines the
scape af survey as either selective, implving survey of respresentative praperties, or comprehensive, meaning the
documentation of every historic resource within prescribed boundaries. Summaries also note the number of resources,
range af construction dales, tvpes of properties, and methods of documentation. The depository for documentation
materials and the final product of each swrvey conclude each reference. Research resulfs appear within a detailed chart
(vee page 17) and upon an updated compilation map of Survey of Historic/Archeological Properties (see page 18). A
parifolia af all accessible survey reparts resides in the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department,

In 1933, HABS be as an emergency funding project |
within the National Park Smﬂaﬂimlgﬁﬁ,ﬂbecameampgmﬁva i H'F‘F“""*"’““““ f_““"‘_’.‘g’ Ty
effort between the National Park Service, the American Institute of | - =
Architects and the Library of Congress, Within the Athens-Clarke | gyrvevor: urchiteeteets snd photographers
County vicinity, the selective survey documented one monument and | depth of survey.  intensive/reconnaissance
thirty buildings, including five demolished and one relocated structure gcope of survey:  selective :
(see Appendix H). The HAER program, established in 1969, concentrated | # of resources: 31 (Athens-Clarke County)
on engineering resources such as bridges and dams and documented | type of résources.  commerical, ﬂﬂlfﬂml institutional
no resources within Athens-Clarke County, Survey efforts compiled E s N :
archival materials such as black and white photographs, information | documentation:  data sheets, b photagraphs,
data sheets, and architcctural measured drawings. The Library of R Ehm‘tm Ahssiieed deawings
Congress filed the records which are also published within The | 9ePository: brary of Congress

Georgia Catalog: Historic American Buildings Survey, the Heritage
Room of the Athens-Clarke County Library sccured microfilm copies of these records.

In 1967 the Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation ( ACHF), a citizen non-profit organization, conducted an initial survey
of the Athens area. The Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation House Survey sought to provide a convenient source of written
and photographic information onbuildings constructed in Athens before 1900, This selective survey documented 797 resources
along streets in existence in the 19th century, utilizing Charles Morton Strahan’s 1893 “Map of Athens, Georgia” and excluding
smaller buildings of similar or identical appearance to other survey sites. Although il emphasized dwellings, the survey also
included commerical and institutional resources. Field research vielded a black and white photograph attached to an individual
data sheet, which supplied reconnaisance level information regarding ownership, use, architect/builder, value, exterior
appearance, date of construction, style, physical condition, and an

Hmm ----- evaluation of significance. Ovwner inquiry resulted in little additional
Ammﬂ:rkcﬂnd.tfu:;?ru ndnﬂxm Sumq; imformation and eventually ceased becanse of time constraints. Dr.
e Kenneth Coleman, chairman of the survey project, placed the survey
surveyor,  preservation organization members summary, data sheets, photographs, and negatives on permanent
depthof survey:  reconnaissance == depaosit in the Hargrett Rare Book and Manuscript Library, University
scope of survey:  selective of Georgia Libraries.
¥ of Tesources: 797
range of resources: <1900 : While employed by the Historic Preservation Division* of the
Efcfw mms mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ;“d | Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Patricia Trwin Cooper
mnmt&w Hargret ng IH s ihsarl canductedthe Historic Structllrﬂ Survey: Clark!: l.':‘_uunty,f(}ﬂqrg_;ia
!i Univeriity F Georgia Libraries in 1975, This sm aﬂ:::-rt identified f‘*“’?““? mttunth:e city limits
i s ; of Athens and Winterville and several siles in the unincorporated
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sections of Clarke County. The endeavor documented 229 buildings,
including 156 in Athens, 15 in Winterville, and 58 in Clarke County.
The survey was selective with minimum documentation: field research
produced a color shide and an information form for cach resource. The
survey form contained catepories such as the site’s original owner,
style, facade material, outbuildings, plan, alterations, condition and
significance; historical accounts and personal insights from current
owners supplemented these categories. The survey report compiled a
list of Athens-Clarke County's oldest sites, a list of endangered
respurces, and a list of sites and districts potentially eligible for
nomination to the National Register. The Historic Preservation Division
of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources received the onginal
survey teport, slides, and forms; the Northeast Georgia Regional
Development Center and the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department

retained copies of the forms,

HISTORIC RESOURCE INVENTORY & ASSESSMENT

Historic Structures Survey: Clarke County, Georgia

1978
SUCveyor; preservalion planmer
~depth of survey:  reconnaissance
“seope of survey:  selective
#-of resonrdes;: - 229

range of resotirces: <1925
‘type of resources:  commerical, cultural, industrial,
mstitutionsl, residential, rural
documentation:  color slides
depository: " Itatoric Preservation Division
: o Department of Matiural Resonrces

Inthe late 70s and early 80s, Athens-Clarke Heritage Foundation, as recipient of matching grant funds from the Historic
Preservation Section* of the Department of Natural Resources, contracted separately with two preservation consultants, David
Brown and Dale Jaeger, to survey historic areas of Athens and prepare nominations to the National Register, District listimgs
resulting from this work were: Downtown Athens (1978), Cobbham (1978), Bloomfield (1985), Boulevard (1978), Boulevard
(1985), Milledge Avenue (1985), Milledge Circle (1985), Woodlawn (1987), Reese Street (1987), Oglethorpe Avenue (1987),

and West Hancock (1988).
Hllmrk Resource: Slnwy
; umﬂ XjyRy
SUrvEyar: - preservation planmr and interns
depth of survey: . intensive
scope of survey:  comprehensive
# of resources: 1422

range of resources: <1935 o
type of resources: nrthm}ingmul oimuw:ncal -:ulluml
industrial, institutional, residential

documentation: - h/w photographs and contact. prints,
state form and database ==

depository: Athens-Clarke County Planniu,g
Department

State-Owned Historic Property Sunn}r

; 1992

surveyor: _[m:umaliun Lunsullﬂm

depth of survey:  intensive

scope of survey:  comprehensive: .

# of resources: #3 (Athens-Clarke Count

range of resources; <1942 0 o

type of resources:  instittional

docamentation: bfw photogruphs and contact: pﬂlit&_.
state form and database

depogitory: - Historic Preservation Division
Department of Natural Resources

Receiving a Certified Local Government (CLG) matching grant
for $7000 in 1988, the City of Athens instigated a comprehensive and

7 intensive Historic Resources Survey. The project assessed 1,422 sites,

comprised of commerical, residential, and institutional properties within
the city limits of Athens. Although originally intended to document the
existing fificen National Register listings and four districts, the survey
completed the individual properties and only one of the districts. In 1989
an additional $6000 matching grant enabled the continuation of survey

| efforis in the three remaining districts and the development of a design
| puidelines brochure. Surveyors recorded information upon the Georgia

Historic Resource Form and attached contact prints and photographs.
Information relating to the current owner, site description and plan,
historical context/significance, and UTM reference was omitied to expedite
thesurvey; however, accurate architectural descriptions with professional
terminology provided detailed information for each resource, cross-
referenced to tax map numbers. The Athens-Clarke County Planming
Department forwarded duplicates to the State Historic Preservation
Office and retained the original forms, field maps, and negatives.

In 1992 the Historic Preservation Division of the Georgia

| Department of Natural Resources and the Georgia Trust for Hisloric
| Preservation sponsored the State-Owned Historic Property Survey,
| financed by the Governor’s discretionary fund. Seeking to identify and
-} document all resources owned or leased by the State of Georgia that were

| constructed in 1942 or earlier, this survey incorporated buildings,

structures, sites, objects, and landscape features and omitted prehistoric
sites and highway bridges. The Athens-Clarke County area possessed 835
ofthe 1175 historic resources identified within this comprechensive stale-
wide survey. The consultant intensively documented the resources upon
the Georgia Historic Resources Form and utilized secondary resources.
The Historic Preservation Division completed database entry and forwarded

to the Athens-Clarke County Planming Department copies of the survey forms and a copy of the published report Held in Trust:

Historic Buildings Owned by the State of Georgia.

*Historic Preservation Division of the Georgia Department of Natwral Resources, previously kmown as the Office of Historic

Preservation and the Histaric Preservation Section



Save Outdoor Sculpture!, a joint project of Smithsonian
Institutions’s MNational Muscum of American Art (NMAA) and the
Mational Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Property (NI1C),
implemented the largest arts and cultural volunteer project in 1992,
Funded by the The Pew Charitable Trusts, The Getty Grant Program,
and the Henry Luce Foundation, this private/public initiative sought
lo complete a national inventory and focus attention on the preservation
of outdoor sculpture. Georgia SOS!, directed by Lisa Vogel, of the
University of Georgia's School of Environmental Design, coordinated
the identification and the basic condition assessment of 33 picces of
outdoor sculpture within Athens-Clarke County during 1993,
Comprehensive and intensive field survey cxcluded grave markers/
headstones, museum collections, commerative works, architectural
structures, minor decorative architectural elements, mass-produced
items, and machinery, weapons, or other implements nol originally
conceived as sculpture. Volunteers compiled on-site documentation
upon survey questionnaires, library research, and black and white
photographs. The Office of Preservation Services retained copics of
the information and forwarded all originals to the Inventories of
American Painting and Sculpture Department of the National Museum
of American Art.

As a preliminary step in a community-wide preservation
planning initiative, a private consultant conducted the Winterville
Historic Resource Survey, sponsored by the Winterville Historic
Preservation Committee and the City of Winterville and funded
through the Georgia Department of Natural Resources’ Historic
Preservation Division. The intensive and comprehensive survey
identified 83 propertics in Winterville's city limits, within Clarke
County but not within the jurisdiction of the Athens-Clarke County
Historic Preservation Commission. Documenting propertics deemed
50 vears or older regardless of physical condition or integrity, the field
survey yielded black and white photographs and contact prints, which
were attached 1o the Georgia Historic Resource Forms. The survey
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S08! Save Outdoor Sculptare

1993
SUIvEyor: volunteers
depth of survey: intenrive
. scope of survey: comprehensive
# of resotirces: 33 (Athens-Clarke County)
- range of resources: <1992 :
type of resources:  cultural : ;
docnmentation:  bfw photographs, information form,
ik national databasc
“deposilory: Inventories of American Painting and
Seulpture/ NMAA

thtcrriﬂt Historic ﬁmurm Survey
s 19493

surveyor: - preservation consultant
depth of survey:  infensive

scope of survey:  comprehensive:

#of resources: . 83

mange of resources: <1943

type of resonrces; - commerical, industrial, residential
documentation:  béw photographs and contact prints,
: state form and database

Historic Preservation Division

depository:
i Department of Notural Resources

report included a breakdown of buildings by architectural style, building type, and exterior materials and a recommendation of
amultiple resource National Register nomination for one district and an individual property. The City of Winterville forwarded
copies to the State Historic Preservation Office and the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department.

Through another Certified Local Government (CLG) matching grant, the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department
commenced the Prince-Dougherty Corridor Study in 1993, The basis of the study was an intensive and comprehensive survey,

- Prince-Duugherty Corridor Study
1993 :
surveyor: preservation infem
depth of sarvey:  intensive :
stope of survey:  comprehensive

# of resonrees; - 171
range of Tesourdes; <1993

type of resources:
documentation: - biw photographs, state form
depository. ~ Athens-Clarke County Planning

commerical, insfitutional, residential

which evaluated the visual aspects and evolutionary character of this
major traffic corridor. The study documented 171 historic and non-
historic propertics along Prince Avenue and Dougherty Street. The
Maorth Athens Perimeter, intersecting the western end of Prince and
the eastern end of Dougherty, served as a boundary, excluding two
large, non-historic complexes at either end of the corridor.  Field
survey compiled a comprehensive building inventory and produced
individual Georgia Historic Resources Forms with black and white
photographs attached and UTM references omitied. Research efforls
supplemented these forms with copies of historic photographs of
existing or former buildings. The Athens-Clarke County Planning
Department retained all originals and negatives and published the
Prince-Dougherty Corridor Study to aid future planning efforts and
to serve as a model study for traffic comdors.
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In order to comply with the requirements of Georgia's
FPlanning Aet, the Athens-Clarke County Planning Department
initiated the Comprehensive Plan Windshield Survey in 1993 (o
prmrldz location and preIimjnar}r intbnlnauan on caqcammtions of STV Gikoiatits Shci e
historic resources. Meither comprehensive nor intensive, the survey depth of survey:  reconnaissance
mcluded buildings constructed before 1932, except those owned by | scope of survey,  selective
State or Federal Governments and those of significantly reduced | # of resources: 15
integrity. Survey efforts noted landmarks and resources of outstanding | range of resources: <1932
quality and significance not previously surveyed.  Although field | type of resources: - commerical, cultural, industrial,
survey identified all historic resources within the accessible, non- i ; mﬂl;mfleim],r?ﬂderﬂml ;"11'31 :
incorporated regions of the county, surveyors recorded only representative ocumentauon:  color shdes, mformation form. .
buildings within the cily limils and residential neighborhoods. The deposstary: Athens-Clarke County: lem.um_
survey produced color slides and used an abbreviated survey form, Drpartmeat :
comprised of information regarding name, location, style, date of
construction, and a preliminary determination of National Register eligibility. Assessing architectural styles, building types,
dates of construction and median age of housing, the information resulted in the Historic Resources Element of the Athens-
Clarke County Comprehensive Plan (July 1994), and the Athens-Clarke County Planming Department retained the forms and
slides.

Comprehensive Plan Windshield Survey
1993

Guided by the Athens-Clarke County Historic Presevation

: Mm 11;;":“’“‘ T Commission, a team of preservation graduate students from the

- sl University of Georgia implemented a Preservation Planning Survey

S T _; : i | in 1995, With the intention of creating a methodology for future
mw m ; : : surveys, the study developed aformat and appliedit to four preselected,
scope of survey: “’"I""’hm‘m"“ St i) residential areas. Comprehensive and intensive, this endeavor focused
# of resvurces: on buildings of integrity constructed prior to 1940 and documented
range of resources: 'fil‘.MU 783 historic resources. comprehensive but reconnaissance survey

type of resources:  commerical, mstitutional, residential | efforts covered two more areas. The team adapted a field survey form
documentation: . biw photographs, information form for clarity and speed, generated Georgia Historic Resource Forms and

depository: ~ Athens-Clarke County Planning included contact prints. The Athens-Clarke County Planning
o kepariment Department received forms and negatives and a copy of the Athens
Preservation Planning Study.

In addition to such extensive surveys, individual sites and specific areas are often the subjects of survey efforts during
the course of the local designation process, Mational Register nominations, and Certificates of Appropriateness and Section 106
reviews, Athens-Clarke County's Historic Preservation Planner and interns completed surveys requesied by the Historic
Preservation Commission, including the Hull Street area, the Cloverhurst area, and four individual dwellings of significance.
Property owners and developers, seeking financial incentives, document their properties; the Puritan Mill complex serves as a
recent example. Nom-profit organizations, academic institulions, and governmeni agencics sponsor research and survey of
historic sites as well. Graduate students with the Masters of Historic Preservation program annually produce planning and
preservation studies. Thematic or contextual surveys are also viable. A survey and subsequent National Register nomination
of Athens-Clarke County’s urban shotguns, a historic house form, is currently before Georgia's National Register Review Board.
The Athens Historical Society is in the process of documenting cemeteries within the county.
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CHAPTER 3
DEVELOPMENTAL HISTORY

Scarcely two decades after Christopher Columbus made his epochal landfall in the West Indies,
Spanish explorers were probing estuaries and rivers along the southeastern coast of North America.
Hernando DeSoto was the first to penetrate the interior of the continent north of Florida. He brought an
expedition of 500 soldiers to the west coast of Florida and set out northward in 1540 on an overland march
that eventually took him through the territory of what would become seven of the southeastern United States

As soon as DeSoto left the coast he found himself moving through an immense aboriginal forest.
Except for coastal salt marsh, tidewater savannas, an occasional open meadow or burnt-over clearing in the
interior, forest covered the entire Southeast, even the tops of the highest mountains. Cypress and pine of the
coastal plain, “lofty trees of mighty bulk,” gave way below the Fall Line to hardwood forest dominated by
oak and hickory, which covered the Piedmont up to the lower slopes of the mountains where the chestnut
predominated and the tulip poplar and other cove hardwoods flourished. DeSoto came up through the Creek
Indian territory of south and central Georgia but veered eastward before he reached the Cherokee country
in the Georgia Piedmont.

During the next century the English founded settlements along the southeastern coast and sent
explorersinto the interior to establish a fur trade with the Creeks and Cherokees. To the English the aboriginal
forest gave the appearance of an English park. The lifelong competition for sunlight necessary to reach climax
growth had caused forest hardwoods to drop off their lower limbs and spread a dense canopy of leaves high
above the forest floor. This choked out competing understory growth and left the deeply shaded forest floor
covered mostly with grasses, ferns, mosses, and low shrubs.

Competition for sunlight also produced generous spacing between the massive tree trunks, rising aloft
like columns of a cathedral to support the dense canopy above. Fur traders and early hunters discovered they
could see great distances through the forest gloom and might ride, as Governor George Gilmer said in his
Sketches, for several hours on a sunny day without seeing the sun, or veer off the trail and ride at full gallop
through the forest with ease. English settlers came to prefer hardwood forest over all other types of land
because of its fertility. Here the depth of spongy humus and rich topsoil, afier countless centuries of
undisturbed accumulation, could be measured not merely in inches but in feet.

Convement sources of fresh water essential to farmstead settlement abounded in the Georgia
Piedmont. Weather systems usually came out of the Southwest bearing moisture from the Gulf of Mexico
up across the coastal plain to the Piedmont and mountains, where rainfall averages tended to increase with
elevation. From an average of 45 to 50 inches in the Piedmont, annual rainfall increased to 70 inches in the
Blue Ridge Mountains in the northeastern corner of the state, where mountain peaks commonly approach four
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thousand feet in altitude. Rivers and streams of the area, their clear waters unclouded by silt, carried away
most of the run-off, but much of it sank into subterranean geological strata, which descended gradually in
shelves from the mountains down to the Fall Line, providing an abundance of natural springs throughout
North Georgia.

The eastern continental divide enters the northeastern corner of Georgia on the crest ofthe Blue Ridge
and curves southward down across the Piedmont along the eastern edge of the Chattahoochee River basin
west of Athens. As a result, the rivers of Clarke and other counties of northeast Georgia flow southeastward
to the sea. Foremost among them, the Savannah River rises on the eastern slope of the Blue Ridge and follows
a fairly straight course down through Georgia’s easternmost watershed. Immediately west of the Savannah
River basin lies the watershed of the Ogeechee, which rises in the lower Piedmont, then the watershed of the
Oconee River, which flows down from the foothills through Clarke County and the city of Athens.

Two nations of Native Americans, the Cherokees and a confederation of linguistic groups whom the
English called Creeks, had conflicting territorial claims in the Georgia Piedmont at the time of first European
contact. The people of both nations lived in clusters of towns and villages surrounded by clearings and fields
where they practiced subsistence agriculture, but except for a small Creek settlement at Skull Shoals south
of modern Athens, both had left the Georgia Piedmont largely unoccupied. The Piedmont forest teemed with
small game and wildfowl, beaver, bear, and some bison, but it was the great herds of whitetail deer roaming
the forest that became the primary cause of contention between the Creeks and Cherokees. The arrival of fur
traders with their huge demand for deerskins only intensified the dispute.

The Creek confederation claimed territory covering most of modern Alabama and the southern two-
thirds of Georgia. Their towns and villages, though, lay mostly in the coastal plain of the lower Chattahoochee
River basin, some two hundred miles southwest of modern Athens.

The Cherokees claimed even more territory, about forty thousand square miles of the southern
highlands north of the disputed boundary, which ran eastward across the Piedmont of Alabama and Georgia,
passing through modern Clarke County just north of Athens. Within this princely domain, the Cherokees had
actually established settlements only in the valleys of three rivers that originated in northeast Georgia. Nearest
to modern Athens were the Lower Towns about fifty miles northeastward on the headwaters of the Savannah
River. The other Cherokee settlements lay west of the Blue Ridge on rivers that drained northwestward into
the Tennessee Valley. These were the Middle Towns around modern Franklin in North Carolina and the
Overhill Towns in the Tennessee Valley, both in the Little Tennessee River watershed; and the Valley River
Towns in the watershed of the Hiwassee River in far western North Carolina.

White settlement of the Georgia Piedmont came late in the colonial period. After the Georgia Trustees
secured the charter in 1732 and James Oglethorpe helped to found Savannah the next year, the first land
cession confined colonial settlement to the tidewater lying between the Savannah River on the north and the
Altamaha River on the south, about halfway down the coast to Florida.

Of the three major objectives in founding Georgia--imperialism, philanthropy, and mercantilism--the
Trustees were able to achieve only the first. In 1742 at “Bloody Marsh” on Saint Simon’s Island, Oglethorpe
turned back a Spanish attack, effectively ending the Spanish menace and securing Georgia for the British
empire. But the philanthropic and mercantilistic objectives failed so thoroughly that the Trustees threw in the
towel a year early in 1752. At this point the Crown began to ease restrictions on the Georgia settlers, most
notably the one prohibiting slavery in Georgia. The noble “experiment in altruism” was abandoned, and
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Georgia rapidly metamorphosed into the same breed of colony as the Carolinas and Virginia, with a slave labor
system and a plantation economy.

The so-called Cherokee War with South Carolina in 1761-62 cost the Cherokees a large land cession
in that colony. When the French and Indian War closed in 1 763, Georgia gained the coastal tidewater down
to the Florida border and all the coastal plain between the Savannah on the east, the Ogeechee on the west,
and up over the Fall Line to a small stream called Little River about twenty-five miles above Augusta,

Into the cession of 1763 settlement followed the path of least resistance, coming up the Savannah to
the head of navigation at Augusta, then continuing on up the river and its western tributaries above the Fall
Line. Thenin 1773 the pressure of heavy debt to Indian traders persuaded the Creeks and Cherokees to cede
more than two million acres of the Georgia Piedmont, This so-called “New Purchase” opened up for
settlement the western half of the Savannah River basin extending sixty miles upstream from the Little River
boundary of 1763, '

The heart of the cession of 1773 was the valley of the Broad River, the Savannah’s largest western
tributary above the Fall Line. The Broad River Valley lies immediately east of the Oconee River watershed.
The Georgia legislature initially designated the valley Wilkes County but later subdivided it into several
counties, two of which, Oglethorpe and Madison, today touch the eastern edge of Clarke.

Settlers from Virginia and the Carolinas began flooding into the Broad River Valley on the eve of the
Revolutionary War, while the future site of Athens still lay beyond the frontier in Indian territory. But the
colonials managed to provoke the Cherokees into joining the war on the British side, so when the war ended
in 1783, the Cherokees were obliged to give up the Oconee River watershed, which included the territory of
modern Athens and Clarke County. By the time the Creeks approved this cession in 1790, the Georgia
legislature had chartered a state university and were in the early stages of deciding where to put it.

Three years later an event of profound significance for the future of the antebellum South quietly took
place near Savannah. Eli Whitney, a young Yale graduate visiting the plantation of Nathanael Greene in 1793,
put together a simple machine that solved the difficult problem of separating the seed from the fibers of upland
cotton. The device soon gave rise in the Deep South to the cotton kingdom based on slave labor.

The spread of cotton cultivation across central Georgia and up into the Piedmont increased public
pressure to remove Native Americans entirely from the state and, simultaneously, began the wholesale
destruction of the aboriginal forest. The most common method was to “girdle” the tree by cutting away a
strip of bark around the trunk, and when it was dead, to set it afire to burn away the branches. The settlers
left the massive tree trunks standing, planted crops among the charred and lifeless remnants of these once-
magnificent forest monarchs, and usually endured the forlorn landscape with patience until the great roots
rotted and the tree trunk fell of its own weight.

Although the state legislature chartered the university in 1785, the institution existed only on paper
until 1801 when the appointed authority decided to locate it on land lying between the north and middle forks
ofthe Oconee River a few miles above their confluence in what was to become Clarke County. The sitechosen
was a 633 acre tract donated by John Milledge on the west bank of the North Oconee River. Here on a broad,
tree-shaded bluff a hundred and fifty feet above the river, the trustees established the initial unit of the
university, which would be called Franklin College throughout the antebellum era,
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Geography exerted a strong influence in determining the early growth of Athens and Clarke County.
From any direction except the northwest, commerce and communication with Athens and Franklin College
meant crossing the Oconee River, an intimidating barrier before the construction of bridges. The North
Oconee, meandering southward through a rather steep-sided ravine half a mile east of the college gates,
passed through Cedar Shoals, a section of rapids with exposed river bedrock adjacent to the college. The
Middle Oconee, about three miles west of the college gates, also passed over shoals slightly farther
downstream.

From the earliest times Native Americans followed deer tracks to these shoals to ford the river,
establishing a trail used for east-west travel. The shoals also furnished early scttlers a river crossing on their
north-south Pickens Trail When white settlement came, the river shoals of the Georgia Piedmont encouraged
the construction of mills and factories driven by water power.

The campus of Franklin College during the antebellum era was confined mostly to the bluff
overlooking the river. This was an almost level area about 200 yards wide that extended southward from the
college gates some 400 yards before beginning a fairly steep descent into the vale of Tanyard Creek, which
flowed from west to east into the North Oconee, severing the campus from the pastoral landscape to the
southward.

The trustees soon sold off a slightly higher hill just north of the college gates, where the town of Athens
began. As the town grew, Athenians laid out a grid pattern of streets. Of the five east-west streets, Front
Street, now Broad, was the first to cross in front of the college gates. The next was Clayton, slightly up the
southern slope, then Market (now Washington), Hancock on top of the hill, and finally Dougherty Street over
onthe northern slope. The north-south streets, from west to east, began with Pulaski and continued eastward
with Hull and Lumpkin streets, College Avenue, and Jackson and Thomas streets.

College Avenue, extending northward from the college gates up over the crest of the hill to Dougherty
Street, would eventually become the commercial and governmental center of Athens. The old Town Hall
originally stood in the middle of Market (Washington) Street between Lumpkin and Hull. Its successor, the
Athens City Hall, was built on top of the hill facing east on College Avenue between Washington and
Hancock. In the downtown area of early Athens the better homes were built primarily on College Avenue and
on Dougherty, Pulaski, Thomas, and Jackson Streets.

Pulaski Street on the West and Thomas Street on the East intersected with Broad on the South and
Dougherty on the North to form the four corners of the original grid. These boundaries continue to define
the heart of downtown Athens today.

At the northwest corner of the grid, where Pulaski and Dougherty streets intersect, a low ridge, often
well over a mile wide and with only gradual changes in elevation, extended northwestward for more than forty
miles without crossing a stream.

This natural high way would evolve from an Indian trail into an excellent “ridge road.” When it was
designated the Federal Road in the 1820s, it linked Augusta and Athens commercially with the Cherokee
nation in northwest Georgia and with middle Tennessee and central Kentucky. The discovery of gold in
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Cherokee Georgia in 1829 filled the Federal Road with fortune hunters and multiplied demands for Cherokee
removal. Nine years later the Cherokees were forced out, opening up northwest Georgia to rapid settlement
and turning this road into the main commercial artery serving Jefferson, Gainesville, and the Gold Country,
with connections into the Tennessee Valley and beyond. Athenians eventually named their stretch of this
important thoroughfare Prince Avenue.

The breadth of the ridge just out of town and the natural beauty of the landscape along Prince Avenue
encouraged its development into an avenue of grand homes. Many of the properties were fair sized farms in
a suburban setting, and virtually all contained acreage enough to include separate kitchen houses, vegetable
gardens, servants’ quarters, stables, barns, other outbuildings, and here and there a formal garden and a small
orchard. By 1859, when this commercial artery was officially designated Prince Avenue, the double row of
capital mansions, set back among spacious lawns and stately groves, had transformed the avenue into “one
of the most palatial streets in all of Georgia.”

From the middle section of Prince Avenue, about a mile northwest of the college gates, a ridge road
of major significance branched off southward and followed the high ground between the North and Middle
forks of the Oconee River as far as the mansion and mill village of Whitehall, some five miles from downtown.
The in-town section of this road, named Milledge Avenue for the umiversity’s early benefactor, became Prince
Avenue’s closest rival as an avenue of grand homes.

Although ten of the twelve historic districts in Athens-Clarke County at the end of 1995 flank Prince
and Milledge avenues, the great majority of homes in these districts represent not the wealthy but the middle
class and blue-collar residential areas.

These rivers and ridges of Athens and Clarke County, the university campus and the young city on a
hill north of it, together constituted the primary features defining early Athens. The land lay pleasantly in the
surrounding countryside, rolling land of soft contours and high fertility, of meadowlands and forest glens,
numerous streams and “copious” springs, and a temperate climate ideal for farming and no less conducive
to academic pursuits.

Descriptive passages in the survey of historic resources, which appear in Chapter 4, not only furnish
more detail on specific resources but also help to illustrate various facets of the community’s growth and
evolution over time.





